Case # 13-00302

On-Duty
Subject: Summation
To: _ Undersheriff D.E. Senterfitt
From: Internal Affairs Unit/ Lieutenant S.G. Gallaher #629
Reference: Failure to Conform to Work Standards
Complainant: In-House
Member: PECO P.L. Robinson #6630, B/F

Services / Communications Cer

Police Lieutenant C.E. Ayoub #6224, W/M
Patrol West / Zone 6

Police Lieutenant J.D. Ricks #7475, WIM
Patrol West/ Zone 6

Police Sergeant L.J. Mills #5443, W/M
Investigations / Homiicide

Police Lieutenant R. Schoonover #6434, W/M
Investigations / Homicide
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On June 28, 2013, Internal Affairs received an in-house complaint from Director
M.S. Williams, on behalf of Sheriff Rutherford, concerning the Department’s response to
the 911 call on June 21, 2013, (CCR# 422457) regarding the kidnapping and murder of
Cherish Perrywinkle. More specifically, the issues of concern were the responses by
Jacksonville Sheriffs Office (JSO) personnel in the Communications Center, Patrol

Division and the Homicide Unit.

Concerns regarding the Communications Center:
s The appropriateness of the call being dispatched as
than a “Kidnapping.”
e The dispatcher’s responsibility to upgrade the cajitoa *Ki

o The supervisors’ actions related to the incident:

o Public Information Officer (P10) noﬂfcatl h

o Emergency Alert Radio System {EARS) br@a -casts

Concerns regarding the Patrol Division:
¢ * The Patrol Watch Comman

o Notification of the Com u

tions related to the incident;

ons Center

Sergeant’s actions related to the incident:

_ Information received from the Investigative dispatcher upon call-out

o information received from Patrol supervisors

o Information relayed to the Homicide Lieutenant and when it was relayed
+ Homicide Lieutenant’s actions refated to the incident;

o Response to the scene

o Notification of the Investigations chain-of-command



Case #13-00302
Page #3

Investigative Note:
Internal Affairs reviewed the following material in reference to this case.

s General Offense Repoﬁ CCR#422457

¢ Communications Center telephone recordings
o Communications Center dispatch recordings
e Communications Center emails

+ Computer Aided Dispatch — Audit Trail

e Cell Phone Records (Schoonover and Mills)

s Timelines pfovided by Patrol Division, Investigations Division and

Communications Section

On July 16, 2013, at 10:45 a.m., Internal Affalrs obtained a recorded sworn
statemeht from Christina Vanworme’r‘;‘; formelﬁ:;%f‘j_ JSO Police Emergehcy
Communications Officer (PECO), at 501 East Bay Street. Present for the interview
was Lieutenant Gallaher with theInternal Affairs Unit.

NOTE: Vanwormer resigneaf*' om “‘the Jacksonville Sheriffs Office on July 12,

VahWormer viewed the Audit Trail which tracked all of the logged entries into

Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) records by the receiving officer as well as other
dispatchers involved. Vanwormer explained that the Audit Trail does not show her as
the initial dispatcher, but in fact shows PECO N.R. Pachecker #66873 as the initial

dispatcher. Vanwormer thought the discrepancy was an error in the Audit Trail. She
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explained that when she received the call for dispatch, she read the information,

“sounded the alert tone,” and relayed the information to theé résponding units.

NOTE: Vanwormer listened to the recording of the original call when it was
dispatched tc the patrol units. She believed it was her voice on the recording
following the alert tone; however, it was later determined that the relief

dispatcher, Pachecker, was the one who initially dispatchéd the call
Vanwormer took over dispatch approximately two minutes later.
Vanwormer said she interpreted the information from siving officer as a

&.never considered

should be upgraded and/or the s;gn_al changed; pl’lﬂﬂ‘ to thelr arrival, she has the

authority if she deems it necessary. Vanwormér said i ’ became apparent to her that the

éase was a kidnapping, after learni at the suspectjwas a registered sex offender.

leared the talk group at the request of the

nounced a Be on The Loockout (BOLO) and

Vanwormer explained ‘that s

Vanwormer listened to the original 911 call made to JSO. She said that to her,
.the eleven minute conversation PECO Robinson had with the victim’'s mother did not
describe a kidnapping. Vanwormer said it was her opinion that the victim’s mother

described the elements of a missing person—Robinson sent it as a missing person—
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Vanwormer dispatched it as a missing person and would not have changed it unless an

officer requested her to change it.

Vanwormer said that the Communications Center supervisors were aware of the

cali and were monitoring the situation, even noting that the Audit Trail showed PECO
Sergeant D.A. Williams #7811 pulled up the call on her computer at 11:20 p.m.

Jaj @@FM;J

statement from Police Emergency Communications Ofﬂce {PECO) P.L. Robinson
, the Internal Affairs

descriptions of the calls 1o the

dispatched to police fﬁcers

‘_s-trangerﬂ while at the Walmart on Lem Turner Road. The victim’s mother
described how she had just met the suspect, his suspicious actions while
interacting with her daughter, and a description of him and his van. Thfou_ghout
the conversation, the victim’s mother told Robinson that she feared the suspect

was going to rape and kill her daughter.
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Robinson listened to the recording of the 911 call and agreed that the victim’s
mother described an abduction of a child, not just a missing child. Robinsen, who was
visibly upéet during the interview, said that she typed and sent to the Zone 6 dispatcher
what she believed at the time to be the “pertinent” information related to the call, but she
now acknowledged that it was incomplete. Robinson was provided a cop y of the Audit

Trail related to this call. She agreed that she did not include important in ation that

* but I thought she was lying.” She

said she just ‘took. n‘ [the mfomfatlon_ _4

man, the Jva‘n; the childmum...deScrip.tions um, on how she met him.... and where she
met him at before.” Robinson reiterated that at the time, she didn’t think it was
pertinent, and that she felt the information she put in the call was more pertinent to help

the officers locate the victim.
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Robinson admitted that as the call went on, she could have changed the call to a
“signal 30” (kidnapping). Robinson felt that the designation of priority 1 (signal 30)
versus priority 2 (signal 8) did not affect the response time of the responding police
officers because both types of calls are broadcast with an alert tone. She also stated
that she did not know that designating the call as a kldnapplng would have requ;red the

notification of the PIO by the Communications Center.

Robinson said if she was able to do everything over agai

- everything the mother said in the additional information and se

On July 17, 2013, at 8:00 p.m., internal Affair
statement from Police Emergency Commumca ons O
Pachecker #66873 at 501 East Bay Stregt: < P
Lieutenant Gallaher with the Internal Aff Unit. 'Egchecker declined to have a

er (PECO 1) NR.

or the interview was

representative present during her interview

Pachecker was working as -dispatcher on June 21, 2013, and relieved

officers. She said 1

‘ecker logged into the system on the Audit Trail at 11:19 p.m., and

Vanwormer: replaced her at the console at approximately 11:21 p.m. Pachecker
believed that she relayed the first couple of updates sent to her, and explained that
Vanwormer began broadcasting the updates after that. Pachecker said that she could
tell the difference between her voice and Vanwormers voice on the recording.

Pachecker said that when Vanwormer returned to the Zone 6 console, she told
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Vanwormer that a “signal 8” just came in, officers were en-route and Vanwormer

needed to look at it.

Pachecker said the information that she received from Robinson was limited and
because of that, the initial designation of a “signal 8” did not appear to be incorrect at

that time. She said that as she received the first couple of updates, she ﬂ'%ought there

Pachecker said that she was not the one who spoke with the inant and not the
e e for the receiving

officer or the Communications Watch Supervisor.

Pachecker listened to the recorded 91’-1_:; cail and sald that she believed the caller

described “a fsignal] 30 just occurred.” Pachec: a -Sé‘éd that the caller's statements

that her daughter had been taken, z

raped and killed were important itern __

On July 17, 2013, 8t 8:37 pm,
statement from Police Emergency Communications Officer (PECO) J.E. Fooshee

Vanwormg? asked him if the Air Unit was available. Fooshee said he did not recall

observing the call in the pending queue prior to the call being assigned to the officers;
therefore, he did not announce the call over the Investigative talk group. Audio

recordings and CAD records show that Fooshee was busy calling out a Child Abuse
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detective on an unrelated call at the same time the victim’s mother was calling 911 to.

report the kidnapping.

Fooshee acknowledged that Police Pilot S.G. Vaughn #5941 called Fooshee on
the Investigative telephone line (I at 11:39 p.m. and asked him what Zone 6

was working. Vaughn explained to Fooshee that he was in his police gar (heading

home) and heard a Zone 6 officer ask the dispatcher (Vanwormer) i Unit was

‘go home.” Vaughn repeated his request to Fooshee that if it

to call him, to which Fooshee_ agreed. Foosh

Vaughn to go home because Fooshee did not have the authority to tell Vaughn te go

" back to the hangar since he was already off—dufy L

Fooshee said that he looke itor and was able to see that Zone 6 was

working a “signal 8" however;:he t re;éarch the call. Fooshee said that when

] i not ask Vanwormer if her Zone 6 officers

needed the Air Uni s he did not ask, because Vanwormer needed to
st after o.btainiﬁg authorization from the Patrol Watch Commander.
rization is given, he can then contact Commander Highfill

' # him of the request. Fooshee acknowledged that it was

request. Fboshee said per policy Vaughn could not be called back on his cell phone

like he ésk‘ed Fooshee to do, but Fooshee said if he “had the power fo do it” he would

have called him.
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h time the e
nsured

than just transfer him to.the iy

Williams saig that she sent the first EARS broadcast at 12:27 a.m. and that the
P10 js included in the email distribution list for the broadcast. Willianis acknow{edged

|
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kidnapping based on the information and also, that the broadcast does not substitute for

proper call-out of the PI1O.

Williams was asked if she notified her supervisor, Communications Lieutenant

Leonard #7017 of the kidnapping call in Zone 6. Williams said that Leonard was

notified, but she was not sure if she notified her or if it was the other sergéant working

that by 12:15 a.m., everyone in the Communications Center w that Zone 6 was

working a kidnapping. 0

Williams was asked if she ever consideréd upgrading the ¢all in the CAD system

to a “signal 30.” She said she did not, and t explained that is something the officers

on the scene normally handle and she eve ered ‘why are they [Patrol] not

changing the signal?”

ergeant Facina sent one broadcast. Williams said

e .format as directed by the new policy change.

: she eﬂsured the broadcasts were sent in the new format

iding to 12100 Lem Turner Road, CCR 422457, Sgt; Mills is POC,

a staging and time will be updated.” She said thi-s" broadcast was sent as
a result of the call-out of the Homicide Unit.

s At 1:45 a.m., Williams sent an updated EARS broadcast that read “Update: The
media staging area ahd specific time that POC Sgt. Mills will address it

TBA.” Williams could not recall exactly why she sent the update, or if it was at
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anyone’s direction. She did say that there had not been any media interest (calls
to the Communications Center) up to that point. ‘
s At 3:33 a.m., Facina sent an EARS broadcast that read, “EARS update — Sgt.
Mills will be doing a press conference in 30 minutes in front of Wal Mart at
the Market entrance, CCR 422457, Zone 6, Subsector P-2.”
o At 4:40 a.m., Williams sent an updated EARS broadcast at the d:rectlon of PIO
Shannon Hartley #60231. Internal Affairs listened to th rded phone

conversation between Williams and Hartley. Williams ack

de the information as |
why she did not. The EARS

fo 10300 Lem Turner Rd. C

Investigative Note:

‘ Communications, Vickie Diaz. The email was a draft
the process for updating the media with timely
e scenes, with specific instructions for the Communications

he format by which EARS broadcasts were to be sent.

On June 1§, 2013, at 3:05 p.m., Assistant Chief Vickie Diaz forwarded this email to
all of the Communications Center supervisors instructing them ‘tﬁa-t it was being
sent for their information so that they would be “on the same page” as the

Detective Division.
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MEMORANDUM 2013-12 (Release of information to the media) took effect on June
20, 2013.

The examples for the new EARS procedures were written as follows:

¢ EARS #1: “Homicide callout — 7900 Blanding Bivd - CCR 1234 S”

o EARS #2: “Homicide UPDATE - 7900 Blanding Bivd — Sgt 'rhéﬁspeaking

at 1:45 PM at Chevron Pkg. lot”

Williams said that she listened to the recording of the 9 at Robinson took
a kidnapping and
not just a missing person. Williams said Robinson ¢ atching the call as a

“signal 8" '(missing person), when it should have-

hed as a s.'gnal 307

(kidnapping). Williams said that Robinso

~ provided by the victim's mother—the child

nternal Affairs obtained a recorded sworn
ommunications. Officer (PECO IV) Lieutenant

Eas ,B;_ly Street. Present for the interview was

Internal Affairs Unit. Leonard declined to have a

Leonafd pla;ined that she first became aware of the incident shortly after arriving at
the back-up center. She explained that she was in the supervisor's office when
Robinson approached her and told her about the call. She said Robinson explained that
she was upset and had just gotten off of the phone with a caller that was “kinda talking

out of her head about her daughter missing and she’s not sure what she has” and the
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victim’s mother let a man take her daughter to the dressing room a couple of times and
waited thirty minutes to call the police. Robinson then told L.eonard that she needed to
take a break. Leonard said she initially understood the situation to be a missing person

call during her conversation with Robinson.

Leonard said she and the sergeants discussed the call in the supe’r?-}gjsor’s office
and she remained at the back-up center in order to make sure everythin handled

properly. L eonard said she realized the call was actually a possib!é‘ ing when

required notification of the PIO once they understo

Communications Watch Supervisors; however,

Leohard explained that the Communications Center is no longer responsible for
notifying- a “Staff Duty Officer” in a situation such as this, and that the Patrol Watch

Commander is responsible for notifying his or her chain-of-command.
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Leonard agreed that Robinson did not send the Zone 6 dispatcher important
details told to her by the victim's mother. lLeonard listened to the recording of the
original 911 call prior to the Internal Affairs interview and said that she “probably would
have sent it [to Zone 6 dispatch] as a 30 [kidnapping].”

Leonard was asked if she and Williams could have upgraded the signal to a “30”

after they realized it was a kidnapping. She said that once Patrol is on t

Communications Center personnel do not change the signal of a ¢all u

Patrbi to do so.

Leonard discussed the call-out of the Air U
Fooshee was correct in that he did not have the authéity to tell

hangar and assist with the call; however, she felt tha

Williams that he had just spoken with the pil i nd sinc‘c-%he was about to go home, ask

Patrol if they would authorize the call-out.

al Affairs obtained a recorded sworn

hearing F:oli'ce Sergeant S.C. Putman #7127 arrivé on scene and ann_ou_nce"th'at it might
be a possible kidnapping. Ayoub said that he read the additional information on the
dispatch screen. He said that it was concerning to him that the complainant had just
met the suspect at the store, the victim left with the suspect and that the suspect had

been paying a lot of attention to the victim.
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At approximately 12:00 midnight, Ayoub arrived at the scene and met with
Putman and obtained a briefing from him. Putman told Ayoub that an eight-year-old
child was missing and that it was possibly a kidnapping. Putman then went through the
timeline of events as relayed to him by the victim’s mother. Putman told Ayoub that he

already called the on-call Missing Persons detective and the on-call Homicif.iéﬁe sergeant,

Cident Command
‘t ICS. He said he

said Wiili;ms‘ told him that he would have to request the Air Unit through Investigative
Dispatch and then she attempted to transfer his call to Fooshee, but it got disconnected.
Ayoub said that he called Williams back and she again transferred his call tb Fooshee.
Ayoub then told Fooshee that he needed the help of the Air Unit in an overtime capacity

because he was working a potentially bona fide kidnapping.
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Ayoub said that he briefed Sergeant Mills upon his arrival and then Ayoub and
his officers operated in a support capacity for Homicide. Ayoub said that he obtained
additional units from Zone 5 and coordinated the efforts of the patrol officers while

Homicide conducted their investigation.

Ayoub said he explained how the suspect met the victim and _ er; how he drove

them to Walmart and shopped with them for well over gt “How the suspect and the

e}

victim walked to the parking lot together, got in the suspect’s van, ‘and drove away. -
Ayoub said that he told Ricks that everythifig *

surveillance system. Ayoub said Ricks told him something

& on the store’s video
to the effect of “Okay, just let

me know what happens.”

Ayoub said he did not telt Rick thought Ricks 'shaf_l;iﬁi respond because
tell

that the potential abdugt ild was a situation that needed to be forwarded up

he did not feel it was his plac AS)OUib said he called Ricks because he felt

& believed that the victim was entered into' NCIC/FCIC in
g Person O’pera’t’ional’ Order (13'0.02,23). fe';c;ardir@g the two

information entered into NCIC/FCIC. Ayoub acknowledged that it was. approximately

2:15 a.m, when Mills declared the case a bona fide kidnapping.

Ayoub said that he was very busy during the entire incident. He said that he and
Mills coordinated their efforts and felt that Mills was doing a good job. Ayoub said he
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was aware that Mills had talked to Schoonover during the night, but he was not privy to
their conversations. Ayoub said he recalled that Mills had been in contact with the

Communications Center during the night, updating the EARS broadcasts.

| Ayoub said that once things slowed down about 5:00 — 5:30 a.m,, he cleared the
tactical talk group and spoke with Ricks, who in-turn spoke with Pollce Chief J.C.

Tranquille #6819. According to Ayoub, Ricks relayed Tranquille’s ir
relocate the command post to the Zone 6 substation if nothing,
Walmart. Ayoub said that Ricks and Police Chief J.C. Tr. quill

approxirﬁjately 6:30 am.

Present for the interview was FOP repres
Gallaher with the Internal Affairs Unit.

when he received a phone call from Ayoub on
to 1:30 a.m. Ayoub told Ricks that Patrol and -
n Lem Turner Road in reference to a missing

im that the Air Unit had been called out; patrol officers

Ricks said he didn't remember Ayoub tell him any specifics about the victim
leaving the scene in a van with the suspect. Ricks said that Ayoub did not read him the
“call screen” on the Mobile Digital Computer (MDC) and had Ricks been told that “basic

information,” he would have called Chief Tranquille. Internal Affairs asked Ricks if
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Ayoub told him that Ayoub thought it was a possible abduction and Ricks replied "No—
inferference with custody.” Ricks said the “crux of the information” that he was told was
that it was a situation in which Homicide was leaning toward interference with custody,

and that was Ricks’ understanding at the end of their phone conversation.

Ricks acknowledged that Ayoub told Internal Affairs that he conveyed to Ricks

happened—Ayoub asked Ricks to call him. n callintfj” youb, Ricks learned all of the
details about the kidnapping, the suspect, and the Amber Alert. Ricks said that he was

upset that he was just learning that information. Hé said he obtained all of the specific

details and immediately notified C uille. Ricks said he then responded to the

command post without being"éi ected’ '

and; make management decisions that cannot be handled at a lower level in the chain-

of-command.

On July 30, 2013, at 2:20 p.m., Internal Affairs obtained a recorded sworn
statement from Police Sergeant L.J. Mills #5443, at 501 East Bay Street. Present
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for the interview was FOP representative Ken Palmer and Lieutenant Gallaher
with the Internal Affairs Unit.

Sergeant Mills said that he received a call from Investigative Dispatch (Fooshee)
at approximately 12:04 a.m. on June 22, 2013; Fooshee did not give Mills any additional

information. Mills said he was instructed to call the sergeant at the scene (P

upon doing so, was given an overview of the missing person ca
working at the Walmart. Mills did not recall the conversation verb
was told that the mother and her children had been shopping
Her accepted a ride
poad. The mother
told the officers that she did not know the suspect but she and her children walked

earlier in the evening and met the suspect while there. Thé

from the suspect and they all drove to the Walmart on Lem Turne

around the store shopping for clothes, and at:sofrie poi;_l},t_,;:,_ ;Q_gr,.suspect and the victim

walked out of the store together. Mills said Putman told_him that the mother's behavior

was somewhat unusual and there could poss‘lbiy be )a_: hild custody issue as the victim -
was scheduled to take a flight to er blologlcal father the next day. Mills said that

hé was told that the video surveillan d the mother’s account of eventis.

the biolggical father. Mills also commented that “from a normal parental standpoint”

some of the things that the mother did, were things that a rational parent would not do.

Mills said that because of the child’s age and the video evidence supporting the
fact the child left with the suspect, he called his detectives and instructed them to

respond to the scene. At approximately 12:10 a.m., Mills called Homicide Lieutenant

\
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Robert Schoonover and notified him that he and his detectives were headed to a call
involving a missing child, and that the store surveillance confirmed that the child left with
the suspect. Mills said he provided Schoonover with a general description of the victim,
suspect and van and the fact that the mother had just met the suspect and was
shopping with him. He said he explained to Schoonover that he did not know the exact
reason she was missing, whether it was a bona fide abduction or not, but t ey would be

responding and Mills would call Schoonover with an update. Mills said th hoonover

said to keep him posted.

Mills said that Schoonover's response to keep him post ' appropriate at that

d would not know

until he and his detectives arrived at the scene.

At 12:53 a.m., Mills arrived at the Wa
said Detective Paul Cullen arrived just befor

Detective Don Alexander just

after. Mills said Ayoub explained t tions he a.ndfh'i‘é officers had taken in an attempt

to locate the victim. Mills said Ayot
other zones and was having d
the scene, he took Charge of

capagcity.

relayed to
Mills had be

were shopping inside the store had been identified, as well as more detail of how the
mother realized the suspect and daughter had not gone to the McDonalds inside the

store, but actually left the store in the suspect’s van.
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Mills said that he instructed his detectives to interview the victim’s mother and
“‘Pressure her a little bit. on the details, so that we can get as much information as we
can,” to make sure the -informatioh the mother was providing was accurate. Mills said
that Cullen is his “Buffdog” in that regard and is the one Mills used to “push that issue.”
Mills said he clarified to his detectives that he had concerns about the validity of the

mother’s story because she just met this stranger—accepted a ride from him, shopped

Mills thought it

ict same thing as

the mother—almost as if they had been coached—]

-qual’iﬁed;to conduct forensic interviews with ¢ idren.

Mills explained the mother's

she cried, she moaned and cri

explained that although the mother’s behavior was conceming, he realized

that the étlght-yea-r—oid. victim was missing, the mother’s story had not changed and the
video surveillance supported the fact that the victim left the store with the suspect. Mills
said it was at that time he determined it was necessary to initiate an Amber Alert. Mills
said it was approximately 2:15 a.m. when he determined they were investigating a bona

fide kidnapping.
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said during that hour, he was extremely busy and on his phone with several people so it
was possible that Lewis approached him about the topic, but Mills could not recall. Mills
was familiar with the language in the Missing Person Operational Order (10.02.23)
regarding the two holr time limit for an officer to enter a missing person into
NCIC/FCIC. Mills believed that the officer was in compliance because the official
“receipt of the report’ as defined in the operational order was not until 215 a.m. when

Mills declared the case a bona fide kidriapping.

Miils learned from Patrol that the suspect hag

offender, and the owner:information for the vanhad been ol

Between 3:30 and 5:00 a.m., Mills dire¢ted Ayoub and his officers to réspond fo
the suspect’'s house where they met with the suspect’s mother and searched the house

for the victim. Mills finalized the Amber Alert with FDLE and contacted Investigative
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Dispatch (Fooshee) and made a request for the PIO to call Mills. P1O Shannon Hartley
called Mills and was informed of the situation and was requested to respond to the
scene. Mills asked Hartley to schedule a news briefing and tell the media that the eight-
year-old victim had been kidnapped by an identified sexual offender and there was

suspect vehicle information.

Mills was asked if he contacted Schoonover to update him the new

information. Mills said “Yeah, I'm sure I did. | probably didn’t note.it i e [timeline

»

provided by Mills] but I'm back and forth on contact with him throughotit this. went.

he was managing
the situation just fine. Mills was asked if he called otify him that the
Amber Alert had been sent, the suspect had been identified and officers were searching
| led at that moment. He

= and recewmg several calls from them as

on to explain that it was a very fluid scene, a lot was happenl

the suspect’s house for the victim. Mills was’ ot stre if

said that he was making several calls to FD

well, and it would have been difficult for h|m o | Sthoonover until he finalized the

the entire event he thought that he spoke with

Schoonover several times but_ he w re and he did not record all of the times and

conversations.

have s “for them (CART) to follow-up on; however, had they discovered
addition ads at the house, that might have changed his decision to activate CART.

Mills added that the suspect and vehicle information had been broadcast to all zones.

Investigative Note:
According to FDLE (www.fdle.state.flLus/), CART is an organized, rapid, and

planned response to an abducted child or other missing child incident. Through
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FDLE, local law enforcement agencies have immediate access to experts in child
abduction inwesrti-gations and personnel trained in the incident command system.
According to FDLE, CART works in conjunction with the Flbrida Department of
Law Enforcement’s (FDLE) Missing Endangered Persons Information
Clearinghouse (MEPIC) to utilize the Amber Alert or the Missing Child Alert when

the appropriate criteria for activation are met. CART Membérs include

experienced and professional investigators, crime analysts, foren experts,
search and rescue professionals and other support personr ned and

available to respond as needed.

At 5:00 a.m., Mills gave an on-camera i.ntervieiisiﬁ\fvit
responded to the 4:40 a.m., EARS broadcast. Mills then

ids as they were called

| TV stations that

ecf;d two additional

detectives to respond to the Homicide office tostaft fie

in.
ils called Sc §Bn‘over and updated him on the
ed to activate CART and agreed that it
FDLE and requested a CART response.

At approximately 5:45 a.m
investigation. Mills said they discu
was needed. Mills said he the 1 contag

f Schoon Ve'r"?ff'-gave Mills any instructions at that time, and .Mills

Mills was ask )
; did mgst of the talking because he was the one relaying all of

said “No.” Mills:8aid

O A ugust 1, 2013, at 10:16 a.m., Internal Affairs obtained a recorded sworn
statement from Police Lieutenant Robert Schoonover #6434, at 501 East Bay
Street. Present for the interview was Lieutenant Gallaher with the Internal Affairs

Unit. Lieutenant Schoonover declined to have a representative.
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Lieutenant Schoonover said that he arrived home from a trip to Boston,
Massachusetts at approximately 11:00 p.m. on June 21, 2013. He said that he was in
bed when he received a telephone call from Mills on June 22, 2013, at approximately
12:10 a.m. Schoonover said the call was only a couple of minutes long. He said Mills

stated that “they [Mills and his detectives] received a signal 30 call” and were headed to

the Northside. Schoonover said the conversation was very brief and he""’fi{old Mills to

had just told him. He said that he was not told any specific formation regarding the
victim, child custody issues or the suspect. Schoonover said there‘was not a need for

him to respond so he went back to bed.

Schoonover explained that his sergea_jf?;s and detectlves often get called out to
possible kidnapping calls and it is normal for him. to recelve a call from the responding

sergeant notifying him that they an ing called out oniy to later receive an update that

it was not bona fide or was not true: ver said that he does not respond to the

initial fact-finding catl-out—-—hé;w its n _upaate from the sergeant. He also explained
that he does not notlfy‘his ¢hai

ves a text 1 J rom the Communications Center when his people are

nmand in these types of call-outs. Schoonover

being called ou d beheved that his chain-of-command receives the same texts.

nfirmed through the Communications Section that the

chain-of-command did receive the same text message as

Schoonover said the next call that he received from Mills was at approximately
2:20 a.m., and it was about five minutes in length. Schoonover said he was asleep
when he received the call on his cell phone. Mills told him that they had an eight-year-

old missing from the store—video confirmed that the suspect walked around with the
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mother and children for a couple of hours and then showed the suspect exirt the store
and the little girl followed him—"no abduction, doesn’t grab her and doesn't force her
out.” Mills then explained to Schoonover that he was concerned about the possibility of
a child custody issue because the child was supposed to be taking a fiight to see her
father in the morning. Mills continued by stating the mother could be making the

complaint as a ruse, or the suspect could be known fo her, and they are pi’%venting the

permission to initiate the Amber Alert and, instructe
Schoonover said he did not give Mills any ‘
respond to the scene. Schoonover said that h

 that he went back to bed after spe

er if he understood the situation to be a

Schoonover said “With circumstances, yes—

over said he did not respond to the scene based on the information
provide Mills. Schoonover said that he wanted to wait for Mills to update him “fo
see if an);fhing-more takes place.” Schoonover said that Mills did explain that they had
several Zone 6 officers on the scene, Lieutenant Ayoub and the Air Unit; therefore,

Schoonover felt that his presence at that time would not have helped.
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Schoonover said that he did not notify his chain-of-command because of the
same reasons he did not respond. He did not feel it was necessary to wake them up at
2:20 a.m. to tell them that he was authorizing the Amber Alert, as he and Mills still had
some concerns as to whether or not it was bona fide. Schoonover acknowledged that
this was the first time he had ever authorized an Amber Alert, and the first time the

Homicide Unit had initiated an Amber Alert, during his tenure as the Homicide

was an unusual and media worthy case that could have bene m the assistance

of the media.

Schoonover said the next time that he s s at approximately 5:45

a.m. when Mills woke him up. Schoonove

aid that: Mills gave an update on the

situation. Mills explained that they identified the suspect at approximately 3:30 a.m.,

and that the suspect was a regist sexual off;'endé}. Mills said they obtained a tag

number for the suspect’s van, upda mber Alert, and Patrol went to the suspect's

‘house and spoke with his mother. onover said that he and Mills then discussed

activating CART.

titenant that he authorized the activation of CART. Schoonover said

ant Chief Butler immediately after the phone call with Mills and informed

Lieutenahtlscho.onover provided a copy of his cell phone bill that showed all of
the calls sent and received from his phohe on June 21-22, 2013. The_calls listed

below detail the date, time and length of each call described by SChoonoVer.
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e June 22, 2013, at 12:14 a.m., Mills called Schoolnover'; the call was one
minute in duration.
e June 22, 2013, at 2:04 a.m., Mills called Sc.hbo'nover; the call was four
minutes in duration.
e June 22, 2013, at 5:43 a.m., Mills called Schoonover; the call was four

minutes in duration.

e June 22, 2013, at 5:48 a.m., Schoonover called Butler’ one and
reached his voicemail.
o June 22, 2013, at 5:49 a.m., Schoonover called Butler

s home phorie; the
call was thirteen minutes in duration.
Schoonover provided his cell phone records to _Iarify twa points—the first being
that the timeline of events Chief A.M. Smith pit )
notification to Assistant Chief Butler at 6:20
that he called Butler .immed-iateiyf after endin

ed to Internal Affairs listed his initial

.m. and thgt is incorrect. ‘Schoonover said
iis_call-with Mills at 5:48 a.m., and his

~ phone records support that. The and point of clarification was that between the 2:04

m Mills, Schoonover did not receive any

ek

a.m. call from Mills and the 5:43 a.m
. said in his statement to Intemnal Affairs.that he

other calls from Mills, even thotigh Mi

made other calls to Q ponover duris

-

not. Schoonover said that Mills'was probably mistaken because he had so much going

the night, his phone records show that Mills did

Schoonover explained that his unit does not call out the PIO—that is a function of
the Communications Center—and that his sergeants are normally very busy working the
crime scene. He said that his sergeants will address the media. without the PIO being
present and then forward their comments to the PIO to ensure all media receive the

same message. Schoonover said he believed the PIO receives the same texts that
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Schoonover receives whenever Homicide is responding to a callout. He also
commented that had all of the media responded earlier in the morning at 2:30 — 3:00
a.m., he did not think it would have changed anything because he believed they would

not have put it out on their news broadcasts until 5:00 or 6:00 a.m.

Schoonover was asked if the same scenario were to occur aga":‘?‘?_, would he
said that

He

respond when getting the request to conduct an Amber Alert. Schoon

catled him at 3:30

a.m. when they identified the suspect and learned ,,_Sexual offender,

Schoonover would have responded immediately and noti

ey feel his response is needed. - Schoonover
that night.

notify his: tant Chief of the unusual case, because Mills did not tell him
about the si irmation until approximately 5:45 a.m. However, Schoonover did
acknowl approximately 2:20 a.m., he authorized an Amber Alert, and that an

Amber is"a high profile, law enforcement request.

Schoonover explained that for the most part, his response to the scene of a
murder is at his discretion. He said that during daytime hours he notifies his chain-of-
command of the call-out immediately; however, when a call-out occurs in the middle of

the night, he usually waits until 5:30 — 6:00 a.m. to notify his Assistant Chief.
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FACTUAL PARTICULARS:

1. On June 28, 2013, Internal Affairs received an in-house complaint from Director
M.S. Williams, on behalf of Sheriff Rutherford, concerning the Department’s
response to the 811 call on June 21, 2013, (CCR# 422457) regarding the
kidnapping and murder of Cherish Perrywinkle. More specifically, th

concern were the responses by Jacksonville Sheriff's Office (JSO rsonnel in

issues of

rather than a “Kidnapping.”
. The dispatcher's responsibility to

. The supervisors’ actions relate
[&]
o Emergency A

3. Concermns regarding thé
«  The Patrol Wate

ne Commander's actions related to the incident;
ponse to the scene

" Notification of the Patrol chain-of-command

4. Concerns regarding the Homicide Unit;
. Homicide Sergeant's actions related to the incident;
o Information received from the Investigative dispatcher upon call-out

o Information received from Patrol supervisors
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o) Information relayed to the Homicide Lieutenant and when it was
relayed
. Homicide Lieutenant’s actions related to the incident;
0 Response to the scene
o Notification of the Investigations chain-of-command

5. Vanwormer stated that she was working as the Zone 6 disp June 21,

2013, and was involved in the dispatching of the missi

report of a missing person and not

considered upgrading th ignal 8" (mlss}ng person) to a “signal 30"

that “the suspect was a registered sex offender;

nger the dispatcher for the call at t.hat_ point.

as stationed next to her, and asked if the Air Unit was available.
y e lold Vanwormer that the Air Unit was off-duty and unavailable.
__,-a' Grmer said she immediately notified the requesting officer that the Air Unit

unavailable and never received another request for the Air Unit.

8. Vanwormer listened to the original 911 call made to JSO. She said that to her,
the eleven minute conversation PECO Patricia Robinson #6630 had with the

victim’s mother did not describe a kidnapping.
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9. Robinson was working as a receiving officer, in which her duties were to
accurately obtain information provided to her by 911 callers—determine the
appropriate signals—and send accurate descriptions of the calls to the
appropriate zone dispatchers so that the calls could be dispatched to police

officers.

10.At 11:17 p.m., Robinson answered the 911 call made to JSO b the victim's
mother. Robinson talked to the victim's mother for approxim

minutes. During the recorded telephone conversation;

suspect and his van. Throughout

Robinson how she feared the suspec

:‘_V{‘f_lleVed at the tlme to be the “pertinent” information -

e now,ackn.c_awledged that it was incomplete. She

ich in-turn would have been relayed over the radio to the

Robinson stated Shé'wished she had included the

at her daughter might be raped, although Robinson did not think it
wolld Héve changed anything.

12.Robinson said that as she continued to talk to the caller, she be_gén to realize it
was “furning into a kidnapping, but I thought she was lying.” She said “it didn't
seem like, um._like it was real.” She said she just “took it [the information] for

face value” and sent the information and let the pblice officers investigate.
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13.Robinson admitted that as the call went on, she could have changed the call to a
“signal 30" (kidnapping). Robinson felt that the designation of priority 1 (signal
30) versus priority 2 (signal 8) did not affect the response time of the reSp_.dnding
police officers because both types of calls are broadcast with an alert tone. She
also stated that she did not know that designating the call as a kidnapping, would

have required the notification of the PIO by the Communications Ce

14.Robinson said if she was able to do everything over she would put

everything the mother said in the additional inform send it to the

dispatcher.

15.Pachecker was working as the relief dis | June 21

the Zone 6 dispatcher (Vanwormer) | prlof to Ehe;;gaj;l, ﬁ.eing received by JSO.
Pachecker said that she was the di
responding officers. She said that she re& aygd ’fﬁe first couple of sentences of

the additional information

he Zone 6 talk group as she received it from

fgnal] 30 just occurred.” Pachecker agreed that the caller's

ional information.

17.Fooshee was working in the back-up communications center as the Investigative
dispatcher on June 21, 2013. He said that he first became aware of the call
when Vanwormer asked him if the Air Unit was available. Fooshee said he did

not recall observing the call in the pending queue prior to the call being assigned
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to the officers; therefore, he did not announce the call over the Investigative talk
group. Audio recordings and Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) records show that
Fooshee was busy calling out a Child Abuse detective on an unrelated call at the

same time the victim’s mother was calling 911 1o report the kidnapping.

18.Fooshee acknowledged that Police Pilot S.G. Vaughn #5941 called.Fooshee on
the Investigative telephone line (I at 11:39 p.m. and asked

Zone 6 was working. Vaughn explained to Fooshee that he wa

(héading home) and heard a Zone 6 officer ask the dispat
Air Unit was available. Vaughn asked Fooshee wha
Fooshee said, “Yeah, | don’t know what they got ‘going

that if it was something ‘pressing” to call Vaughn on

ghn repeated his request to

duty (11:30 p.m.) and told Vaughn to

Fooshee that if it was something pre: m, to which Fooshee agreed.

/ 87, however, -.he did not research the cail. Fooshee said that

when \ugh rpad themqu:ry Fooshee did not ask Vanwormer if her Zone 6

officers eged { _|r'Unit. Fooshee said he did not ask, because Vanwormer

er Highfill of the Air Unit and notify him of the request. Fooshee
a K?aow}edged that it was approximately one minute after Vaughn inquired about
the Zone 6 call, that Vanwormer asked Fooshee if the Air Unit was available, to
which he told her it was not. Fooshee did not tell Vanwormer that he just spoke
with the Police Pilot prior to her making the request. Fooshee said per policy
Vaughn could not be called back on his cell phone like he asked Fooshee to do,

but Fooshee said if he “had the power to do it” he would have called him.
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20.Fooshee said that Police Lieutenant Claude Ayoub called the Communications
Center and spoke with PECO IlI Sergeant Debra Williams and requested the Air
Unit be called out on overtime. Williams transferred the call to Fooshee who in-

turn called Commander Highfill and made the request.

21.According to the recorded Communications Center phone

provided to Internal Affairs, at 12:06 a.m., Ayoub made contac

22 Sergeant Williams was working as one of the tV;IO Communications Watch
| _f____pentéf’i' on the night of June 21, 2013.

ware of themlssmg person call at 11:20 p.m., as

Supervisors in the back-up communicaf?‘i’ij

Williams said she first becamr

the call was being receive Robinson and sent to the Zone 6 dispatch
console. She said thé-.__gﬂfor'

was a "signal & (mis

23.Williams sgid that her ungerstanding of the situation changed at approximately
midni hep: Lieu enant Ayoub called the Zone 6 dispatcher and requested a

tactical talk g;'rou for the missing person call, and according to the dispatcher,

bnéd that it might be an abduction.

réz:eived a phone call from Ayoub at 12:03 a.m., requesting the Air Unit
usé they were working a missing person call that could possibly be an
abduction. Williams said that she remembered the call, but did not remember
Ayoub tell her that it could possibly be an abduction. Williams said that instead
of handling the Air Unit request herself, she attempted to transfer the phone call
to Fooshee (Investigative dispatcher), but the call was disconnected. At 12:05

a.m., Ayoub called Williams again and told her that his call had been
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disconnected, and that he needed the Air Unit to be called out. Williams again
transferred the phone call to Fooshee's line, at which time the request was
handled. Williams told Internal Affairs that she should have ensured that Ayoub’s
request for the Air Unit was handled rather than just transfe.r him to the

Investigative dispatcher.

25.Williams said she was required to call-out the PIO since the ¢
kidnapping, but she failed to do that. Williams explained tha
sergeant and that she relies on her “cheat sheet” (pri 1 i
with such duties, but because they were work

communications center she did not have her notes with

27 a.m. and that the

broadcast. Williams

26.Williams said that she sent the first EARS b(oi'
PIO is inpluded in the email distrib ‘
acknowledged that the EARS broadca

would not-know it was a kidnapping ba

was limited in scope and that the P1O
d-on the information and also, that the

broadcast does not substitu

or. proper cali-out of the PIO.

0 a.rﬁ., she sent three EARS broadcasts to the

27 Williams explained that'prior to-
media, and that Eommu ions Sergeant Facina sent one broadcast. Williams

them in the format as directed by the new policy

d that she ensured the broadcasts were sent in the

“a.m., Williams sent an updated EARS broadcast at the direction of PIO
non Hartley #60231. Williams acknowledged that Hartley instructed her to
‘send another broadcast to the media, letting them know the press conference by
. Mills would occur at 5:00 a.m. in front of the Walmart. Hartley instructed Williams
to include specific information stating that an eight-year-old child had been

abducted by a registered sex offender and there was suspect vehicle information.
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Williams said she did not include the information as instructed by Hartley and had
ho explanation why she did not. The EARS broadcast that Williams sent read,
“POC Sgt. Mills will address the media @0500 hrs. this date in front of the
Walmart, reference Homicide responded to 10300 Lem Turner Rd. CCR
422457.”

29. Williams said that prior to her interview with Internal Affairs, she listened to the

center. Leonard explain

after arriving at.

one 5 patrol supervisor and requested additional units, as well as

the call was being worked on a tactical talk group before returning to the

AB to'finish her work. Leonard said she monitored the call on the radio at the
PMB.

32.Leonard explained that she and Sergeant Williams were responsible for the
required notification of the PIO once they understood the call to be a kidnapping.

Leonard said the responsibility is on the Communications Watch Supervisors;
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however, as the lieutenant, it was her responsibility just as much as it was

Sergeant Williams’. Leonard said that she just did not think about it.

33.Leonard said that she reviewed the EARS broadcasts conducted by Williams and
said that they were conducted in accordance to the Memorandum (and email
from Assistant Chief V. Diaz) that took effect on June 20, 2013, the day before
the incident. However, regarding the 4:40 a.m. EARS broadcast,

that Williams should have included the specific information provid

and Williams was wrong in not doing so.

34.Leonard agreed that Robinson did not send thi ispatcher important

details told to her by the victim’s mother. Leonard said'that she listened to the

ly would have sent it

recording of the original 911 call and s-aif'

ffo Zone 6 dispatch] as a 30 {kidnappin_ﬁ

' 35.Leonard was asked if she and Williams ¢ h ve upgraded the signal to a “30”

after they realized it was idnapping. She said that once Patrol is on the

- scene, the Communications sonnel do not changé the signal of a-call

unless directed by Patf‘ to do

Foosheée was correct in that he did not have the authority to tell
feturmiito the h ngar and assist with the call; however, she felt that he
tald Vanwormer or Williams.that he had just spoken with the pilot

was a‘ébdut to go home, ask Patrol if they would authorize the call-

Uit nf Ayoub was working as the Zone 6 Patrol Watch Commander on the
nlg { of the incident. Ayoub heard the Zone 6 dispatcher ahnounce the missing
persph cail. and recalled the dispatcher saying that it was involving an eight-year-
old. Ayoub decidecj to head toward the scene after ihéa‘ri"ng Policé Sergeant S.C.
Putman #7127 arrive on scene and arinounce that it might be a possible

kidnapping.
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38.At approximately 12:00 midnig‘hf, Ayoub arrived at the scene and met with
Putman and obtained a briefing from him. Putman had already called the on-cali
Missing Persons detective and the on-call Homicide sergeant, and Homicide was
responding. Ayoub said that he understood the situation at that moment to be a

missing child of tender years—potentially a child abduction.

39.Ayoub explained that he has only had limited training in the Incide ¢ Command
nent ICS.

System (ICS), but he knew that the situation required him 10"

eight-year-old and it was pps§

assistance of the Air-Unit and fauthorized the . dVe’rti’me if needed, He said

Williams told him | roule e to request the Alr Unit through Investlgatlve

said that he briefed Sergeant Mills upon his arrival and then Ayoub and
his“officers operated in a support capacity for Homicide. Ayoub said that he
obtained additional units from Zone 5 and coordinated the efforts of the patrol

officers while Homicide conducted their investigation.
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42 At approximately 1:00 a.m., Ayoub called Police Lieutenant J.D. Ricks #7475, the
Acting Zone Commander for Zone 6, and informed him of the situation. Ayoub
said that he told Ricks they were investigating an abduction of a girl, taken from
the Walmart. Ayoub said he explained how the suspect met the victim and her
mother; how he drove them to Walmart and shopped with them for weli over an

hour; how the suspect and the victim walked to the parking lot togettf";":r, got in the

he did not feel it was his place to tell him. Ayoub said he called Ricks because

- Sagi

ild wat

he felt that the potential abduction of :

the nature of the incident, and to ensure the accuracy
i into NCIC/FCIC. Ayoub acknowledged that it was

he was aware that Mills had talked to Schoonover during the night, but he
was not privy to their conversations. Ayoub said he recalled that Mills had been
in contact with the Communications Center during the night, updating the EARS

broadcasts.
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46.Ayoub said that once things slowed down about 5:00 — 5:30 a.m., he cleared the
tactical talk group and spoke with Ricks, who in~tufn spoke with Police Chief J.C.
Tranquille #6819. According to Ayoub, Ricks relayed Tranquille’s instructions to
relocate the command post to the Zone 6 substation if nothing was occurring at
Walmart. Ayoub said that Ricks and Police Chief J.C. Tranquilie #6819 arrived at

approximately 6:30 a.m.

Ayoub told Ricks

Turner Road in

mber Ayoub tell him any specifics about the victim

cenein a van with the suspect. Ricks said that Ayoub did not read
formation,” he would have called Chief Tranquille. Internal

ion “and Ricks replied “No—interference with custody.” Ricks said the
of the information” that he was told was that it was a situation in which
Hom}cide was leaning toward interference with custody, and that was Ricks’

understanding at the end of their phone conversation.

49 Ricks acknowledged that Ayoub told Internal Affairs that he conveyed fo Ricks

that it was a possible kidnapping; howe\}er, Ricks said that is not what Ayoub told
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him, and that Ayoub had a lot going on at the time the phone call was made.
Ricks said that during the phone conversation with Ayoub, he listened to Ayoub
and asked questions of him, and at the end of the conversation he had no reason

to respond to the scene and no reason to call Chief Tranquille.

50.At approximately 5:00 a.m., Ricks sent a text message to Ayoub asking him what

, ! ‘Chief Tranquille.
Ricks said he then responded to the commar;gff'pds't'fz thout.being directed to
respond. 3

51.Ricks said that he was the “Acting one Commander in the absence of his
Assistant Chief, but he had not recelved any instructions from his chain-of-

command regarding when as expected to respond to after-hours scenes.

Ricks said he had review ies and Responsibilities of the Zone

s'said that he received a call from Investigative Dispatch (Fooshee)
ately 12:04 a.m. on June 22, 2013; Fooshee did not give Mills any
| information. Mills said he was instructed to call the sergeant at the
scene (Putman) and upon doing so, was given an overview of the missing person
case that Patrol was working at the Walmart. Mills said Putman told him that the
mother's behavior was somewhat unusual and there could possibly be a child

custody issue as the victim was scheduled to take a flight to see her biological
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father the next day. Mills said that he was told that the video surveiliance

confirmed the mother's account of events.

53.Mills told Internal Affairs that Putman just provided the facts and details, and then
Mills made decisions based on what he was provided. Mills explained that based
on the information he was told, he thought that the mother could be hiding the
child: the child could have gone with the suspect to anot_her- st ﬁé to get a

sandwich; or the child could have really been abducted hat there

a possibility that
al.father. Mills also

54.Mills said that because of the child’s age and f
fact the child left with the suspect, he called

notified him that he and his detectives were

issing child, and that the store surveillance

“de criptiqf?f’? of the victim, suspect and van and the fact that the

d just me : iré suspect and was shopping with him. He said he

:call Schoonover with an update. Mills said that Schoonover said to

m posted.

'55.At 12:53 a.m., Mills arrived at the Walmart and met with Lieutehant Ayoub.=
Ayoub explained the actions he and his officers had taken in an attempt to locate
the victim. Mills said Ayoub had the Air Unit en route, called in officers from other

zones and was having different locations checked. Mills said that upon arriving
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at the sben'e, he took charge of the investigation and utilized Patrol in a

supporting capacity.

56.Mills then spoke with the officer (Lewis) who interviewed the mother. The story
was consistent with what Mills had been told on the telephone, with more specific
information regarding the fact that the mother did not know the suspéct and they

were supposedly going to meet the suspect’s wife at the Walmart

‘push that issue.”

Mills said he clarifie

about the validity of the mother's s .,

her daughter to the McDo

- visitation for the next day

rensic interviews with children. Mills also said that the

explained the mothers unusual behavior in more detail. He said that when
she éried, she moaned and cried, but he never saw any tears. Mills said that he
thought it was suspicious that the mother's boyfriend knew that she was at the
Walmart and was calling the store wanting to know what was happening, when
the mother had no cell phone and no way of contacting him. Mills said she made -

odd comments to the detectives that she was a psychic and she wanted to help
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the police with finding missing persons; she made the comment that when the
police do bring her daughter back, it will be in a box.

59.Mills explained that aithbugh the mother’'s behavior was concerning, he realized
that the eight-vear-old victim was missing, the mother's story had not changed
and the video surveillance supported the fact that the victim left the sftore with the

suspect. Mills said it was at that time he determined it was n sary to initiate

an Amber Alert. Mills said it was approximately 2:15 a.m, ermined

they were investigating a bona fide kidnapping.

d updated him on the
arding the mothers

62. Mills did not know if the PIO had been notified at that time. He explained that he
usually does not request the PIO because as a Homicide Sergeant he is the

person that normally addresses the media at the scene.

63.Mills said that from 2:30 - 3:30 a.m. he was very busy on his cell phone talking
with FDLE and others involved in initiating the Amber Alert. Mills said that during
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that time period he did not have any additional leads regarding the suspect or the
victim's whereabouts:; therefore, he did not feel the activation of the Child
Abduction Response Team (CART) would have been appropriate. Also, the
other two detectives on his squad were still on call and he was trying to avoid
using them unless absolutely necessary so they could respond to any other call-
outs. Mills explained that in addition to CART, which he can request through
FDLE, he has the ability to utilize the Homicide Unit's CART that is séfpervised by
Homicide Sergeant D.S. Coarsey #6957.

64.At 2:40 a.m., the victim was entered into NCiClFCIC by off Lewis. Mills was
could not recall. Mills was familiar w |

enter a missing person int

ipt of the report” as defined in the

compliance because the

. when Mills declared the case a bona

jith the on-call Homicide Assistant State Attorney, Mark Caliel,
wm of the situation. Caliel confirmed with Mills that he and his

empting to locate the victim. Additionally, Mills learned from Patrol that the
suspect had been identified, was a registered sexual offender, and the owner

information for the van had been obtained.

66.At 3:33 am. Mills called the Communications Center and requested an EARS

broadcast for the media to respond to the Walmart. Mills said that he assumed
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the broadcasted information would let the media know what Homicide was
working—he did not make any specific requests—and said he normally does not
need to request an EARS broadcast, that it is something that is automatically
done by Communications personnel. Mills said he did not get the expected
response from the media at 4:00 a.m., only the Times-Union responded. Mills
said he gave the Times-Union reporter all of the information and’i“-‘%llowed the
reporter to photograph the surveillance photos. Mills added th he did not
believe that the media would generate many leads until the mo
the story about 6:00 or 7:00 a.m. ’ |

67.Between 3:30 and 5:00 a.m., Mills directed Ayouba’ndh S

, . ; L
house for the victim. Mills finalized the.,-Aqgg___bé ‘Alert wi i FDLE and contacted
| “for the PIO to call Mills.

ed of the situation and was

icers to respond to

the suspect’s house where they met with the su:spects nd searched the
Investigative Dispatch (Fooshee) an
PIO Shannon Hartley called Mills and was in
requested to respond to the scene. Mills d Hartley to schedule a news

i ht-year¥old victim had been kidnapped by

briefing and tell the media

an identified sexual offender there Was suspect vehiele information.

by if he ¢ontacted Schoonover to update him on the new
i"?*Yc'eah, I'm sure | did. | probably didn’t note it in here
By Mills] but I'm back and forth on contact with him throughout
en to explain that it was a very fluid scene, a lot was happening,
was managing the situation just fine. Mills was asked if he called
jover to nofify him that the Amber Alert had been sent, the suspect had
identified and officers were searching the suspect’s house for the victim.
Mills was not sure if he called at that moment. He said that he was making
several calls to FDLE and receiving several calis from them as well, and it would
have been difficult for him to call Schoonover until he finalized the Amber Alert.

He reiterated that during the entire event he thought that he spoke with
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Schoonover several times but he was not sure and he did not record all of the

times and conversations.

69.Mills was asked if he thought it would have been appropriate to activate CART
during the timeframe of 3:30 to 4:20 a.m., especially since the suspect had been
identified. Mills acknowledged that the identification of the su"’:"’-":ect was a

significant fead, but it was his only lead and he had “two defecti s, and four

t have changed his

shicle information

organized, rapid, and

fissing ¢hild incident. Through

n conjunction with the Florida Department of

issing Endangered Persons Information-

onded to the 4:40 a.m., EARS broadcast. Mills then directed two additional
detectives to respond to the Homicide office to start fielding leads as they were

called in.
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72.At approximately 5:45 a.m., Mills called Schoonover and updatéd him on the
investigation. Mills said they discussed the need to activate CART and agreed
that it was needed. Mills said he then contacted FDLE and requested a CART

response.

73.Mills was asked if Schoonover gave any instructions at that time, and Mills said

“No.” Mills said he did most of the talking because he was th

the information. Mills was asked if Schoonover said a
Assistant Chief C.R. Butler. Mills said he assumed

notify Butler, but Schoonover did not say he was.

5 ef an_d he told Mills to keep him
eived a text on his phone from the
im that a “sighal 30" occurred—12000 block

e same information that Mills had just told him.

updated. Minutes later %

Communications Cente

‘_.gnapping calls and it is-normal for him fo receive a call from the
ling sergeant notifying him that they are being called out, only to later
ve an update that it was not bona fide or was net true. ~ Schoonover said
that he does not respond to the initial fact-finding call—out;he waits for ah update
from the sergeant. He also explained that he does not notify his chain-of-

command in these types of call-outs. Schoonover said he always receives a text
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from the Communications Center when his people are being called out, and

believed that his chain-of-command receives the same texts.

76. Schoonover said the next call that he received from Mills was at approximately
2:20 a.m.; and it was about five minutes in length. Schoonover said he was
asleep when he received the call on his cell phone. Mills told him fﬁat they had

an eight-year-old missing from the store—video confirmed, that suspect

that he was concerned about the possibility of

child was supposed o be taking a flight to seg¢ her fathef in the morning. Mills

are preventing the child from going to

ills siterated to Schoonover that the

k_id.napping based on what Mills told him. Schoonover said “With circuméfanées;
yes—that she was missing—she’s gone. She left the store with this man and
basically we don’t know who this man is, but [he] spent the last three, four hours

with the family at Walmart, so, you know that was the concems.” Schoonover
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reiterated that due to the child’'s age and the fact she was missing, an Amber

Alert was appropriate.

78.Schoonover said he did not respond to the scene based on the information
provided by Mills. Schoonover said that he wanted to wait for Mills to update him
“to see if anything more fakes place.” Schoonover said that Mills did’fexplain that

; and the reason for issuing it that night was to

the victim and provide them with suspect"and
er agreed that the case was an unusual and

could have .beneﬁted from the assistance of the media.

Mills explained that they identified the suspect at approximately 3:30
adn., and that the suspect was a registered sexual offender. Mills said they
obfamed a tag number for the suspect’s van, updated the Amber Alert, and Patrol
went to the suspect’'s house and spoke with his mother. S_Choonover said that he

and Mills then discussed activating CART.
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81.Schoonover explained the concept of CART and said that this was the first time
as the Homicide Lieutenant that he authorized the activation of CART.
Schoonover said he called Assistant Chief Butler immediately after the phone call
with Mills and informed Butler of the situation and the timeline of events as

relayed to him from Miils.

82.Schoonover provided a copy of his cell phone bill that showed all of calls sent
and received from his phone on June 21-22, 2013. The ca!lé"i'i%sieﬁ ow detail

the date, time and length of each call described by Schognove

e June 22, 2013, at 12:14 am., Mills called Schdonover

the call was one

-minute in duraticn.
e June 22, 2013, at 2:04 a.m., Mills-called'Sch
minutes in duration. ,
. June 22, 2013, at 5:43 a.m.,
minutes in.duration.
. June 22, 2013, at 5

reached his voicémail,

pover; the call was four

Schoonover; the call was four

Schoonover called Butler's cell phone and

vé-any other calls from Mills. Schoonover said that Mills was probably

ken because he had so much going on with the incident that night.

84.Schoonover said that after he made the calls to Butler and authorized the CART
activation, he got dressed and headed to the command post at the Zone 6
substation. Schoonover arrived at the command post and checked in at 7:18

a.m.
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85.Schoonover commented that had all of the media responded earlier in the
morning at 2:30 — 3:00 a.m., he did not think it would have changed anything

because he believed they would not have put it out on their news broadcasts until
5:00 or 6:00 a.m.

said that if Mills had called him at 3:30 a.m. when they : d the suspect and
learned that he was a sexual offender, Schnover would, have responded

immediately and notified his chain- of—command,.;,

87. Schoohover felt that based on the in atlon he' ecelved from Mills, he was in

compliance with his duties and responslbj" ies a "}related to him coordinating with

Mills to ensure that the inv tion was belng conducted correctly and that all

leads were being followed up ly manner. Schoonover said his sergeants

v manner, and was in compliance with his duty and

Schoonover did acknowledge that at approximately 2:20 a.m., he
orized an Amber Alert, and that an Amber Alert is a high profile, law

enforcement request.
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CONCLUSION:

Robinson, in the role of a receiving officer, took a call from a mother attempting
to report the kidnapping of her eight-year-old daughter. Robinson talked to the victim’s
mother for approximately eleven minutes. During the recorded telephone conversation,

the first statement to Robinson from the victim’s mother was that her éight-year—old

victim’s mother described to Robinson how she had just met the suspe

actions while interacting with her daughter, as well as a desc

informatioh which should have resuited in the all being dispatched as a “signal 30”

(kidnapping).

dna g but did not. Robinson told internal Affairs that
i over again, that she would put everything the mother
; ion and send it to the dispatcher. Pachécker, Williams and
Leonard ‘] corded 911 call and all agreed that the victim's mother

des

ernal Affairs finds that Robinson not only failed to determine the appropriate
signal forfhe calt, but failed to update the Zone 6 dispatcher with accurate information
related to the imminent, life-threatening danger that the victim was in. Robinson’s lack of
attention to detail and her personal opinions of the mother's truthfulness directly
resulted in 1) the incorrect dispatch signal being applied to this incident and 2) the lack

of accurate information being forwarded fo everyone involved.
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Based on these facts, Internal Affairs finds that there is sufficient evidence fo
prove that PECO P.L. Robinson #6630 violated the provisions set forth in Duties and
Responsibilities — Serv 14.002.05 (Communications Personnel), Article VHlI, B, 1, &
7, and General Order X1.18 (Code of Conduct), Article IV. A. 3. to wit:

VIIl. Duties and Responsibilities of the Receiving Officer

B. In addition to following all Sheriffs Office.

Receiving Officer will:

to establish and maintain the highest standards of efficiency

n é::anying out the functions and objéctives of the Sheriff's Office.

3. The failure to conform to work standards established for the

member's rank, grade or position;
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Therefore, Internal Affairs recommends the charge of FAILURE TO CONFORM
TO WORK_STANDARDS against Police Emergency Communications Officer P.L.
Robinson #6630 be classified as SUSTAINED.

Pachecker, in the role of relief dispatcher, was operating the Zone 6 console

when the call was transferred to her from Robinson. Pachecker immediately sounded

~Accordingly,
CONFORM TO W

dispatched-.; Vanwormer continued to receive updates from Robinson for approximately

eight minutes, and relayed all of the updates to the responding officers.

Vanwormer was involved with the call for approximately forty minutes before

transferring the call to a tactical falk group. During the time Vanwormer was involved,
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she facilitated a, Be on The Lookout (BOLO) by Officer Lewis and requested the Air Unit
at Lewis’ request. Vanwormer said she relied on the information she received from

Robinson, and based on that information believed the call to be a missing person.

Accordingly, Internal Affairs recommends the charge of FAILURE TO
CONFORM TO WORK STANDARDS against Police Emergency Comi@{iéiunications
Officer Christina Vanwormer #72115 be classified as EXONERATED

“Yeah, | don

Vaughn told 'Fooshee that if it was somethlt

the Air Unit was available. Fooshee said,

phone. Fooshee made the comment to Vaughn that
his tour of duty (11:30 p.m.) and told Vaug
1ething pressing to call him, to which Fooshee

as past the _timé that he ends

& ”

ome.” Vaughn repeated his

request to Fooshee that if it was

~ agreed.

At 11:40 p.m., Var kedF o_oshee‘ if the Air Unit was available, to which

a.m., Ayoub made contact with Fooshée and requested the assistance
itto assist on the kidnapping call; Fooshee then made the call-out of the Air
Unit. Dunng the recorded conversation between Fooshee and Vaughn, Vaughn can be
heard, with disgust in his voice, asking Fooshee why Patrol did not ask for the Air Unit

earlier and Fooshee saying “yeah, | know.” The Air Unit arrived on scene at 1:17 am,
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Fooshee explained to Internal Affairs that he looked on his monitor and was
able to see that Zone 6 was working a “signal 8", however, he did not research the call.
Fooshee explained that he told Vaughn to go home because Fooshee did not have the
authority to teil Vaughn to go back to the hangar since he was already off-duty. Internal
Affairs recognizes that the Aviation Unit call-out procedures require all requests to come

from a street supervisor or higher authority; however, it does not stand to réason that 1)

Fooshee did not tell Vaughn that Zone 6 was working a missing person call of an eight-

PECO JLE. Fooshee #7215 violated the provisions set forth in General Order X118
(Code of Conduct), Article IV. A. 4, towit:

| nta n sufficient competence to perform their
and to assume the responsibilities of their
hall perform their duties in a manner, which will

| to establish and maintain the highest standards of efficiency

ing out the functions and objectives of the Sheriff's Office.

4. Failure to take appropriate action on the occasjon of a crime,

disorder, or other condition deserving police attention;

Therefore, Internal Affairs recommends the charge of FAILURE TO TAKE
APPROPRIATE ACTION against Police Emergency Communications Officer J.E.
Fooshee #7215 be classified as SUSTAINED.
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Williams, in the role of the Communications Watch Supervisor (Sergeant),
became aware of the missing person call at 11:20 p.m., two minutes after the victim’s
mother called 911. Williams initially understood the situation to be a missing person call
based on the information Robinson entered inte the call screen; however, her
understanding changed at 12:00 midnight when Ayoub requested a tacticai talk group
from the Zone 6 dispatcher, and informed the dispatcher that they we"f‘:“’é

_ WQrking a

missing person case that was possibly a kidnapping.

Act:ord_i_,ngly, Internal Affairs finds th-ét- ! i§ sufficient evidence to prove that
PECO IIi Sergeant D.A. Williams 11 violated the provisions set forth in General

A. Th Pioaf"'wri“ be  notified by the Communications Center of the
ing types of incidents: |

uspected kidnapping or child endangerment case, or an
;Ii_l;er Alert*;

NOTE: ﬁg}se' items marked with an asterisk require an automatic response to the

scene by a PIO and does not require a deploymerit by the scene commander.

At 12:03 a.m., Ayoub called Williams by telephone and informed her that the
missing person call was possibly a kidnapping, and requested the assistance of the Air

Unit and authorized the overtime. Rather than instructing Fooshee to make the call-out,
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Williams told Ayoub that he needed to make the request through the Investigative
dispatcher {(Fooshee) and attempted to transfer his call, but the call was disconnected.
At 12:05 a.m., Ayoub made a second call to Williams requesting the Air Unit and told
Williams that the previous call had been disconnected. Again, Williams chose to
transfer Ayoub to Fooshee rather than instruct Fooshee to make the call-out. Williams

told Internal Affairs that she should have ensured that Ayoub’s request fotthe Air Unit

was handled rather than just transfer him to the Investigative dispatcher

the appropriate format as instructed; however, at 4.4 m., Wilk _sent an updated
EARS broadcast at the direction of PIO Shannon Hartley. #60231. Williams

letting them know the press conference by Mills would ccur at 5:00 a.m. in front of the

Walmart. Hartley instructed Williams to iné

eight-year-old child had been ab
suspect vehicle information.

instructed by Hartley and had |

out the ful 10p
(Code of t). Article IV. A. 3., to wit:

ance of Duty

A Members shall maintain sufficient competence to perform their
duties properly and to assume the responsibilities of their
positions. They shall perform their duties in a manner, which will
tend to establish and maintain the highest standards of efficiency

in carrying out the functions and objectives of the Sheriff's Office.
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3. The failure to conform to work standards established for the

member's rank, grade or position;

Therefore, Internal Affairs recommends the charge of FAILURE TO CONFORM
TO WORK STANDARDS against Police Emergency Communication . Officer Il
Sergeant D.A. Williams #7811 be classified as SUSTAINED.

en Patrol requested the Homicide
Unit to respond. Leonard said that at’ .m., she called a Zone 5 patrol supervisor

and reguested additional units ( n the kidnapping call. Leonard then ensured

ata ;i__c< talk group before returning to the PMB to finish

the call was being work
she monitored: the call on the rad io -at the PMB.

Accordingly, Internal Affairs finds that there is sufficient evidence to prove that

PECO IV Lieutenant P.L. Leonard #7811 violated the provisions set forth in General

Order XLIX.9 (Media Relations) Article V, A, 12., and General Order X1.18 (Code of
Conduct), Article IV. A. 3. to wit:
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V. Activation of the Public Information Officer (PIO)

A. The PIO will be notified by the Communications Center of the
following types of incidents:

12. Any suspected kidnapping or child endangerment :f{ase, or an
~Amber Alert*;

And,

IV. Performance of Duty

A.
duties properly
positions. They rform their duties in a manner, which will

naintain the highest stani:lafds__: of efficiency

"'5"conform to work standards established for the

nember’s rank, grade or position;

e, Internal Affairs recommends the charge of FAILURE TO CONFOR_M
STANDARDS against Police Emergency Communications Officer IV

TO WOHR
P.L. Leonard #7017 be classified as SUSTAINED.

Ayoub, in the role of the Patrol Watch Commander, responded to the Scene and
was briefed on the situation by Sergeant Putman. Ayoub understood the situation to be

a possible kidnapping of an eight-year-old child. Ayoub ensured that'a command post
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was established, additional resources were requested and Homicide was provided any

needed assistance.

According to Ayoub, he called Ricks at approximately 1:00 a.m. and informed
him of the situation. Ayoub said he called Ricks because he felt that the potential
abduction of a child was a situation that needed to be forwarded up the Patrol chain-of-
command. Ayoub said at the end of their conversation Ricks told him so ing to the

- effect of “Okay, just let me know what happens.”

of EAILURE 10 CONFORM TO WORK STANI"‘T DS
Ayoub #6224 be classified as NOT SUSTAINED :

pproximately 5:00 a.m., Ricks called Ayoub and learned all of the details
_about the kidnapping, the suspect, and the Amber Alert. Ricks said that he was upset
that he was just learning that information. He said he obtained all of the specific details

and immediately notified Chief Tranquille. Ricks said he then responded to the scene.
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Without the ability to listen to the phone conversation between Ayoub and Ricks,
Internal Affairs finds that there is not a preponderance of evidence to prove or disprove
that Ricks was told the investigation was a kidnapping. Therefore, Internal Affairs
recommends that the charge of FAILURE TO CONFORM TO WORK STANDARDS
against Police Lieutenant J.D. Ricks #7475 be classified as NOT SUSTAINED.

nt at 12:04

Mills, in the role of Homicide Sergeant, was first notified of this inci

showed her leaving with the suspect. Mills contacted Sche er, the Homicide

evidence that showed.

unknown whereabo lis declared the incident a bona fide kidnapping at

ills contacted Schoonover and provided him with this

M_ills-explained, that between 3:00 and 3:30 a.m., he relayed the details. of the
case to the on-call Homicide Assistant State Attorney, who confirmed that law
enforcement was authorized to operate under exigent circumstances while attempting to
locate the victim. Also during this time frame, Mills learned that —
e | N | | I e also discovered that




Case #13-00302
Page #68

the suspect, who was seen leaving the store with the child, was a registered sexual

offender.

Mills relayed to Internal Affairs the supervisory actions he took after learning the
suspect was a registered sexual offender. He said that between 3:30 and 5:00 a.m_, he

finalized the Amber Alert with FDLE, directed Lieutenant Ayoub and his patrol officers to

respond to the suspect's house, and requested the PIO to respond issue a

statement about the eight-year old victim having been kidnapped_by. a s ffender.

" Mills said he did nof call out the Child Abduction Response Team (CART) at that time,

explaining he did not feel its activation was appropriatq sin did not have any

additional leads on which CART could follow-up. Ho ctions that took
place during this time period were, according to FDLE, actions for which CART was

created to rapidly resrpond and assist.

Phone records confirmed that Mills did rio nt ¢t and update Schoonover again

until 5:43 a.m., several hours afterJearning the suspect was a sexual offender. It was

ed with Schoonover the need to activate

enforcement response to the situation. This heightened response

facing thé child, and 2) Mills should have acquired additional resources by activating a
CART deployment. By waiting several hours to accomplish these two things, Mills did
not take advantage of critical resources available to him and he delayed the

establishment of a fully staffed Incident Command System.
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Accordingly, internal Affairs finds that Mills’ actions as they related to the
notification of his chain-of-command and the utilization of CART were not performed in
a manner that demonstrated the highest standards of efficiency in carrying out the
functions and objectives of the Sheriff's Office as stated in General Order VI.6
(Direction and Supervision) Article Hl. A, and General Order Xl.18 (Code of
Conduct), Article IV. A. 4., to wit: '

lll. Duties and Responsibilities of Supervisors

A. Supervisors are responsible not only for t n conduct and

)pe.rformance of

They must accept

procedure.

And.

IV. Performance of Dut'y

A.

arrying out the functions and objécfives of the Sheriff's Office.

4. Failure to take appropriate action on the occasion of a crime,

disorder, or other condition deserving police attention;

Therefore, Internal Affairs recommends the charge of FAILURE TO TAKE
- APPROPRIATE ACTION against Police Sergeant L.J. Mills #5443 be classified as
SUSTAINED.
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Schoonover, in the role of the Homicide Lieutenant, received two notifications of
the call-out. The first was at 12:14 a.m. from Mills‘, the second was from the
Communications Center via text alert moments later. Schoonover said Mills explained
that he and his detectives were responding to a call-out in reference to a kidnapping.
Schoonover said the conversation was very brief, and he was not told any specific

information regarding the victim, suspect, or custody issues. He said there was no

~ need for him to respond to the scene or notify his chain-of-command over told

Mills to keep him updated.

At 2:04 a.m., Mills called Schoonover and told ad an eight-year-

left with the suspect.

elaborate on the foul-play. Mill

.mother's story and there were still:thi t he heeded fo look into, but the fact

ing. Sc oonover said that he gave Mills permission to
initiate the Amber Alert.ar ed-"f;‘\;ﬂills to keep him updated. Schoonover said he

did not give Mills any other instrycti

cknowledged that this was the first time he had ever autharized an
Ami and the first time the Homicide Unit had initiated an Amber Alert -durihg‘ his
tenure: e Homicide Lieutenant. He said that he did not notify his ¢hain-of-command
because of the same reasons he did not respond—he did not feel it was necessary to
wake them up at 2:20 a.m. to tell them that he was authorizing the Amber Alert, as he

and Mills still had some concerns as to whether or not it was bona fide.
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At 543 am. Mils called Schoonover to update him on the situation.
Schoonover learned that the suspect was a registered sexual offender, the Amber Alert
had been updated, and Patrol had gone to the suspect’s house and interviewed the

suspect’s mother. Schoonover and Mills then discussed activating CART.

At 5:48 a.m., Schoonover notified Assistant Chief Butler of the 51tuat|on and at

7:18 a.m., Schoonover arrived at the command post.

- Schoonover acknowledged that had Mills called him,
choonover would’

have responded immediately and notified his chain-gf-com wever, based on

the information he knew when he authorized the Amber Alert, S -oon'c_’jve.r believed his

d,isagréé‘s with this reasoning based on the ct that ne

 ever initiated an Amber Alert—both agreed that the

- (Direction and Supervision) Article 1. V., and Duties and
l-Iltfés'- - DET 06.45.03 (Homicide Lieutenant) B. 20, 32, & 35., to wit:

Il. Duties and Responsibilities of Commanding Officers

V. Commanding Officers shall reépond personally te any emergency or

occurrence of a serious or unusual nature which arises within their
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tefr-itory or jurisdiction, unless their presence at their stations would
be of more value under the circumstances, in which case they shall
assign a competent supervisor to take command at the scene of the
emergency. They shall also, whenever possible, respond to calls
where members of their command are involved in controversy or

serious accidents.

And;

B. In addition to following all Sheriffs Office w; itten d ecti’"’

Lieutenanf; as it pertains to the Homicide Un ilk:

nsure that the Assistant Chief of Crimes Against Persons is

briefed on high profile and media worthy events in a timely

manner.

Accordingly, Internal Affairs finds that there is sufficient evidence to prove that
Police Lieutenant Robert Schoonover #6434 violated the provisions set forth in General
Order X1.18 (Code of Conduct), Article IV. A. 3.,
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IV. Performance of Duty

A. Members shall maintain sufficient competence to perform their
duties properly and to assume the responsibilities of their
positio'ns. They shall perform their duties in a manner, which will
tend to establish and maintain the highest standards gaf-'efficiency

in carrying out the functions and objectives of the Sheriffs Office.

3. The failure to conform to work standards e

member's rank, grade or position;

Therefore, Internal Affairs recommends. the €harge of EAILURE TO CONFORM
TO WORK STANDARDS against Police tenant Robert Schoonover #6434 be
classified as SUSTAINED. :




Ty, .

Case # 2013-00302

“Under penalties of perjury, | declare that | have read the foregoing and that
the facts stated in it are true based upon my personal knowledge, information and
belief.” “l, the undersigned, do hereby swear, under penalty of perjuiy, that, to the
best of my personal knowledge, information, and belief, | have not knowingly or
willfully deprived, or allowed another to deprive, the subject of the investigation
of any rights contained in ss. 112.532 and 112.533, Florida Statutes.”

Respectfully Submitted,

P Al

Lieutenant S.G. Gallaher #6296
August 27, 2013



